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The Grand Jury charges:
General Allegations

At all times material to this Indictmgnt, unless otherwise specified:

1.

The Medicare Program (“Md
benefits to individuals who were over the a

the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Sel

States Department of Health and Humanm Services.

program” as defined by Title 18, Un.ited Sta

2. Medicare was ,subjdivided

dicare”) was a federal healthcare program providing
ue of 63 or disabled. Medicare was administered by
rvices (“CMS™), a federal agency under the United
Medicare was a “healthcare benefit
tes Code, Section 24(b).

into multiple Parts. Medicare Part B covered

physicians’ services and partial hospitalization programs (“PHPs™) connected with the treatment
y partial hosp p

of mental illness.
program of PHPs closely resembled that of
was a distinct and organized intensive trea

care. . ,
& ¢

i
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3.

those patients who were discharged from aif

Medicare Part A cover

Patients eligible for Medicay

ed inpatient psychiatric treatment. The treatment
i highly structured hospital inpatient program, but it

ment program that offered less than 24-hour daily

¢ coverage of a PHP comprised two groups: (1)

inpatient hospital treatment program, and the PHP




was in lieu of continued inpatient treatment
hospitalization, would require inpatient hosp

4, Medicare guidelines require
services at levels of intensity and frequenc
similar psychiatric illnesses.

5. Medicare guide]'_,i.m?_s‘ géquired
a physician who was knowledgeaﬁe about t
hospitalization.

6. Medicare guidelines required
patient admitted to the PHP wou].d require
hospitalization services were not I-er.fided, t
was under the care of a physician, and that {
written plan of care. ;
7. Under the PHP benefit, Medi
and group psychotherapy with physicians, |
(2) occupational therapy requir}ing}hé skills
social workers, trained psychAiatrAi;: nurses
patients; (4) drugs and biologicals furnishe
administered; (5) individualized activity t
diversionary; (6) family counseling services

the patient’s condition; (7) patient educatid

closely related to the care and treatment of th

t

and (2) those patients who, in the absence of partial

italization.

H that patients admitted to a PHP required PHP

y comparable to patients in an inpatient setting for

that patients admitted to a PHP be under the care of

he patient and certified the patient’s need for partial

that upon admission, a physician certify that the
inpatient psychiatric hospitalization if the partial
hat the services were furnished while the individual

he services were fumished under an individualized

care covered the following services: (1) individual
psychologists or other mental health professionals;
pf a qualified occupational therapist; (3) services of
and other staff trained to work with psychiatric
d for therapeutic purposes that could not be self-
herapies that were not primarily recreational or
for which the primary purpose was the treatment of
n programs where the educational activities were

e patient; and (8) diagnostic services.




8. Medicare guideliqgs specif]
coverage under the PHP benefit, . |

9. Medicare did not cover pra
diversionary activities, Medicare excluded
psychiatric wellness and trez;tment of
Psychosocial programs that proyilded only a
rehabilitation were not coveredl;y Medicare

10.  Medicare required that the P

ically excluded meals and transportation from

grams providing primarily social, recreational or
| from coverage programs attempting to maintain

chronic conditions without acute exacerbation.

structured environment, socialization or vocational

[P was provided at a facility that was hospital based

or hospital affiliated or at a community mental health center.

11.  Individuals who qualified fo
Medicare “beneficiaries.” Each b,engﬁciary

12, Hospitals, physicians and ot
Medicare beneficiaries were referred to as ]
providers were required to submit an applic
all Medicare related laws and regulations.
Medicare assigned the provider a Medicare
Medicare provider number coﬁ]ci file claims
rendered to beneficiaries. | L
13.  Medicare paid physicians, hq

rendered to beneficiaries. To receive paym

the submission of claims to Medicare, either

Lo

b

Medicare benefits were commonly referred to as

was given a Medicare identification number.

her healthcare providers that provided services to

Medicare “providers.” To participate in Medicare,
ation in which the providers agreed to comply with

If Medicare approved a provider’s application,
“provider number.” A healthcare provider with a

with Medicare to obtain reimbursement for services

yspitals and other healthcare providers for services
ent from Medicare, providers submitted or caused

directly or through a billing company.




14,
claims for payment. The MAC that proces
and PHP services in Texas was TrailBlazer

15.  To bill Medicare for services
1500) to TrailBlazer. When a claim fon

provider certified that: (1) the contents of]

form was prepared in compliance with the 14

contents of the claim were medically necessltry.

16. A Medicare claim for a phyj

forth, among other things, the beneficiary’s

CMS contracted with Medicare Administrative Contractors (“MACs”) to process

ced and paid Medicare Part B claims for physician
Health Enterprises, LLC (“TrailBlazer™).

rendered, a provider submitted a claim form (Form
m was submitted, usually in electronic form, the
the form were true, correct and complete; (2) the

ws and regulations governing Medicare; and (3} the

ician service or PHP treatment was required to set

name and unique Medicare identification number,

the service provided to the beneficiary, the date the service was provided, the cost of the service,

and the name and unique phy;iciép jdentif]
ordered the service. o

17.  The Medicaid program wa
funded by the United States government a
helped pay for reasonable and necessar]
individuals who were deemed eligible undg
reimbursable medical assistang;g 10 covereq
and inpatient psychiatric treatment.

18. The State of Texas contracte]
process and pay claims submi"rltcdiby healthg

19.  The Medicaid program in

submitted to Medicare in the event the patig

cation number of the physician who prescribed or

. a state administered health insurance program
nd by the State of Texas. The Medicaid program
vy medical procedures and services provided to
r state low-income programs. Among the types of

| persons were physician services, PHP treatment,

d with Texas Medicaid & Healthcare Partnership to
are providers.
Texas could pay a portion of a claim originally

nt had both Medicare and Medicaid coverage. This




portion was generally a percentage of the ar'nount Medicare allows for the billed charge, Such

claims were automatically sent to Medicaid

its portion if Medicare originally allowed th

20. A Houston hospital (“the Ho

in and around Houston and .D;allas, Tex

psychiatric services purportedly provided at

Medicare for PHP services purportedly prov

21.

Medical Doctor who acted as the attendin

facility and PHPs and who submitted claim
treatment to Medicare beneﬁcigri.es..

; - g

Conspiracy to Co

(18 U

22,  Paragraphs 1 through 21 of

reference as if fully set forth herein.

23.

once processed by Medicare. Medicaid would pay
e claim.

spital”) was a Texas non-profit entity doing business
as. The Hospital billed Medicare for inpatient

its main Houston location. The Hospital also billed

ided at locations in and around Housten and Dallas.

Defendant RIYAZ MAZKOQURI, a resident of Harris County, Texas, was a

o physician at the Hospital’s psychiatric inpatient

5 to Medicare for purportedly providing psychiatric

OUNT 1
mmit Health Care Fraud
.S.C. § 1349)

this Indictment are realleged and incorporated by

From in or about 2006, thro%h in or about February 2012, the exact dates being

unknown to the Grand Jury, in the Houstan Division of the Southern District of Texas, and

elsewhere, defendant,

RIYAZ

did knowingly and willfully corﬁb.ine, cons

unknown to the Grand Jury, to violate Titl

. B

execute a scheme and artifice to defraud a

defined in Title 18, United States Code, 3

MAZKOURI,

pirc, confederate and agree with others known and
e 18, United States Code, Section 1347, that is, to
healthcare benefit program affecting commerce, as

cction 24(b), that is, Medicare, and to obtain, by




means of matertally false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises, money and

property owned by, and under the custody
connection with the delivery of and paymen

Purpose

and control of, said healthcare benefit program, in

t for healthcare benefits, items and services.

of the Conspiracy

24.
co-conspirators, to unlawfully enrich them
and fraudulent claims to Medicare throu
unnecessary, services that were not eligible
not provided; (b) concealing the sﬁblﬁissior
diverting proceeds of the fraud for the per

conspirators.

It was a purpose. and object of the conspiracy for RIYAZ MAZKOURI, and his

selves by, among other things: (a) submitting false
gh the Hospital for services that were medically
for Medicare reimbursement, and services that were
of false and fraudulent claims to Medicare; and (¢)

sonal use and benefit of the defendant and his co-

Manner and Mlleans of the Conspiracy

The manner and means by which
accomplish the purpose and object of the co

25.

his co-conspirators would use to submit and

The Hospital would, maintain

the defendant and his co-conspirators sought to
hspiracy included, among other things:
a Medicare provider number that the defendant and

] cause to be submitted claims to Medicare for PHP

services that were not medically necessary and for PHP services that were not provided.

26.  RIYAZ MAZKOURI woul

Hospital’s PHPs and would sign pati

unnccessary treatment for patients who weré

d act as the attending physician for patients at the
tnt  treatment  documents  authorizing medically

not eligible for PHP treatment.

27.

RIYAZ MAZKOURI would sign patient treatment documents stating that

patients needed PHP treatment even thougt* the patients did not need PHP treatment, and the

services provided by the Hospital did not qu

]

hlify as PHP services.




28.  The Hospital would pay pa
staff, and others to refer patients to the Ho

PHP services.

lient recruiters, group home owners, nursing home

spital to purportedly receive medically unnecessary

29.  RIYAZ MAZKOURI would authorize the Hospital to bill Medicare listing his

name as an attending physician to make the

fraudulent claims appear legitimate.

30. RIYAZ MAZKOURI wouid individually submit and cause to be submitted

claims to Medicare using his own Med
services he purportedly provided to patients
31.  RIYAZ MAZKOURI and
submitted approximately $159 'milli;)n in
provided by the Hospital.
32. RIYAZ MAZKOURI and
disbursement of illicit proceélds derivcd frg

others. Vi

care provider number for medically unnecessary
who attended the Hospital’s PHPs.
his co-conspirators would submit and cause to be

claims to Medicare for PHP services purportedly

his co-conspirators would cause the transfer and

ym the fraudulent billing scheme to themselves and

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Secticn 1349,

C(

DUNTS 2-6

Hc;ﬁih Care Fraud

(18 U.S.4

33. Paragraphs 1 tthLil'gh 2] ang
incorporated by reference as ,thgugh fully sq
34.  On or about the d’aies épecii

District of Texas, and elsewhere, defendant

RIYAZ

. §§ 1347 and 2)
I 25 through 32 of this Indictment are realleged and
t forth herein.

ied below, in the Houston Division of the Southern

. MAZKOURI,




aiding and abetting, and aided and abetted by others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, in

connection with the delivery of and paymlent for healthcare benefits, items and services, did

knowingly and willfully execute and attempt to execute, a scheme and artifice to defraud a
healthcare benefit program affecting comllnerce, as defined in Title 18, United States Code,
Section 24(b), that is, Medicare and Medigaid, and to obtain by means of materially false and
fraudulent pretenses, representations and prpmises, money and property owned by and under the

custody and control of Medicare and Medichid as set forth below:

Approx. Approx.
Count Date of Patient | Description of Services | Attending Amount
- Services Initials Billed Physician Paid by
Billed Medicare
Giroup psychotherapy in
Tuly 4, 2011 a partial hospitalization Riaz
2 — July 9, C.G. . . : : $1,110.65
2011 R setting, appro_x1mate]3 Mazcuri
45 to 50 minutes.
Sept. 26, | % iroup psychotherapy in
3 2011 - FS partial hospitalization Riaz £947.70
October 1, + 77 setting, approximately Mazcuri
2011 45 to 50 minutes.
Sept. 27 (froup psychotherapy in
4 2011 - 0ct. | M IR, pa%'t;al IhOSpllEf]lzaH'l{)ﬂ MRlaz _ $947.70
1.2011 _ setting, dpprqxlmate ¥ azcumn
’ 45 to 50 minutes.
October 17, . Group psychotherapy in
2011- _ a partial hospitalization Riaz
> QOctober 22, L.B. setting, approximately Mazcuri $1.137.24
2011 45 to 50 minutes.
Nov. 14 Group psychotherapy in
ov. b p partial hospitalization Riaz
6 2011 —Nov. | M.L, X . . $1,137.24
19.2011 . setting, appro.)umately Mazcuri
’ e 45 to 50 minutes,

In violation of Title 18, United States Codeg, Sections 1347 and 2.
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NOTICE OF CRIMINAL FORFEITURE
(18 U.S.C. §§ 982(a)(7), 981(a)(1)(C), and 28 U.S.C. § 2461)

35, Pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(7), the United States of
America gives notice to the defendant RIYAZ MAZKOURI that, in the event of conviction for
the violations charged in Counts One through Six of tﬁe Indictment, the United States intends to
forfeit all property, real or personal, that donstitutes or is derived, directly or indirectly, from
gross proceeds traceable to the éﬁmmission of any such offense, including, but not limited to, a
money judgment in the amount of at least 46,255,893 in United States currency, for which the
defendant and his co-conspirators may be jointly and sevcrally liable.

36.  In the event that the propgrty subject to forfeiture as a result of any act or
omission of the defendant: |

a. cannot be locatéa L}]::';On the gxercise of due diligence;

b. has been transferred or sold o, or deposited with, a third party;

¢. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court;

d. has been substantially diminished in value; or

¢. has been commingled with gther property which cannot be divided

without difﬁcpltf, ,

it is the intent of the United States to seek forfeiture of any other property of the defendant up to
the total value of the property subject to forfeiture, pursuant to Title 21, United States Code,
Section 853(p), incorporated by reference iF’l Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(b)(1),

and Title 28, United States Code, Section 3461.
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